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28. Berdie May Lacy, Nashville, Tenn,
29, Comer D. Shackletr, Roselle, N, J.
30. Goldie Crossfield. Gadsden, Ala.
31. Rice M. TilJey, Fort Worth, Tex.
32. C. L. Rowan, Fort Worth, Tex. (deceased)
33. Arch H. Rowan, Fort Worth, Tex.
34. Mayble M Epp, Indianapolis, Ind.
35. John Camp, Jr., Waukomis, Okla.

DISCIPLIANA, JUi Y, 1962

Gditorial Members for Life
Editorial Note: To mark the occasion of the achievement of the one hundtedth Life Member ($100) of the
DCHS, and in honor of this special "inner family" of Society members we dedicate this issue of DISCIPLIANA
to them and to our Life Patrons ($1,000). We list their names in the editotial columns of this paper
with the awareness that their witness in our behalf speaks more eloquently than any words we could write.

LIFE PATRONS
1. Forrest F, Reed, Nashville, Tenn., 1952
2. Thomas W. Phillips, Jr. (deceased), 1953
3, B, D. Phillips, Butler, Pa., 1954
4. J. Edward Moseley, Indianapolis, Ind., 1962

LIFE MEMBERS
1946

1. Oteon E. Scotr (deceased)
2. Mrs. Ada Mosher (deceased)
3. Paul B. Rains, High Ridge, Mo.
4. J. Edward Moseley, Indianapolis. Ind.
5. Eva Jean Wrathet, Nashville, Tenn.
6. Colby D. Hall, Fort Worth, Tex.

1947
Lester G. McAllister, Indianapolis, Ind.
Orval D. Peterson, Webster Groves, Mo.
Junior W. Everhard, Cleveland, Ohio
Lawrence C. Carry, Macomb, Ill.
Mrs, Lawrence C. Carty, Macomb, Ill.
Lois Anna Ely, Santa Monica, Calif.
Harriet·Louise H. Patrerson, Cleveland, Ohio

7.
8.
9.

10.
11.
12.
13.

1948
14. Emma A. Lyon (deceased)
15. Louis ,A. Warren, Fort Wayne, Ind.

1949
16. Spencer P. Austin, Indianapolis, Ind.
17. Lorene M. SCOtr, Palestine, Tex.
18. Alfred T. DeGroot, Fort Worth, Tex.

1950
19. Mrs. J. Edward Moseley, Indianapolis, Ind.

1952
20. Thomas W. Phillips, Jr. (deceased)
21. C. Richard Dawson, Rock FalJs, Ill.

, 1953
22. GeoJ~ P. Kuykendall, Lubbock, Tex.
23. JUntos T. Moore, Charleston, W. Va.
24. Doris Autrey. Indianapolis, Ind.

1954
25. Winfred E. Garrison, Houston, Tex.

1955
26. Mrs. Grace Phillips Johnson, Newcastle, Pa.
27. Mrs. Lexie M. Bonner, Huntland, Tenn.

1956
36. Mrs. Harry P. Johnson, Tampa, Fla.
37. Virginia Osborn, Indianapolis, Ind.
38. Harley C. Price, N. Canton, Ohio
39. H. Eugene Johnson, Tampa, Fla.
40. Jennings Davis. Jr., Nashville. Tenn.
41. Mrs. Ronald E, Osborn, Indianapolis, Ind.

1957
42. Andrew P. Martin, Cleveland, Ohio
43. Ronald E. Osborn, Indianapolis, Ind,
44. Mrs. Hatrie Plum Williams, Lincoln, Neb.
45 T. F. A. Williams, Lincoln, Neb.

1958
46. David M. Warren, Panhandle, Tex.
47. Mrs. David M. Warren, Panhandle, Tex.
48. Miss Helen Reeve, Terre Haute, Ind.
49. James E. McKinney, Lynchburg, Va,
50, Mrs. James E. McKinney, Lynchbutg, Va.

1959
51. Miss Meribah Clatk, Mt. Sterling, Ill.
52. Roscoe M. Pierson. Lexington, Ky.
53. Willis R. Jones, Nashville, Tenn.
54, Bebe Boswell, Jackson, Tenn.

1960
55. David Nelson Sutron, West Point, Va,
56. Mrs. E. H. Duncan, Nashville, Tenn.
57. R. 1. Wrathet, Nashville, Tenn.
58. Mrs. R. 1. Wrather, Nash"ilJe, Tenn,
59. John Rogers, Tulsa, Okla. ,
60, Mrs. John Rogers, Tulsa, Okla.
61. Mrs. William M. Forrest, Pendleton, Va.

(in memoty of William M. Forrest)
62. Charles E. Crouch (deceased)

(Continued on Page 39)
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SOCIETY HOLDS ITS THIRD MAIL BALLOT
FORREST F. REED IS NEW CHAIRMAN

The Executive Committee of the Disciples
of Christ Historical Society has announced
the results of the Society's annual election,
conducted again this year for the third time
by way of a mailed vote. Th·~ balloting
brought a forty-six per cent response. In
1961 it was fifty-seven per cent; and in 1960,
forty-one per cent.

The New Officers

Forrest F. Reed, a trustee of the Society
since 1952 and vice-chairman of the Board
since 1956, was elected chairman of the
Board of Trustees. As chairman of the
Nashville Planning Committee, Mr. Reed
was instrumental in bringing the Society to
Nashville in 1952. His work as chairman
of the Finance Committee contributed greatly
towards the establishment of the Disciples
of Christ Historical Foundation in 1961. A
charter member of the Wood mont Christian
Church in Nashville, Mr. Reed served for
ten years (until his retirement this spring)
as chairman of the Board of Trustees of the
Disciples Divinity House of Vanderbilt Uni-
versity.

The vice-chairman of the DCHS Board is
Hugh M. Riley, pastor of the Douglass

Boulevard C hr' is ti an
Church, Louisville, Ky.
Dr. Riley became a
member of the Society
in 1951; and since July
1, 1960, he has served
as a member of the
DCHS Executive Com-
mittee. During his min-
istry at the Oak Cliff
Christian Church in
Dallas, Texas, Dr. Riley

was made chairman of the Texas Commis-
sion on Disciples History which reports
annually to the State Convention of Chris-
tian Churches in Texas. During his chair-
manship, the Commission sponsored a state-
wide project to encourage the writing of
local church histories, introducing a project
to record and preserve live interviews.

Dr. Riley

William F. Greenwbod, vice-president of
the First American National Bank in Nash-

ville, is the new treas-
urer of the Society. He
fills the vacancy created
by the death, on Febru-
ary 28, of Dr. Charles
E. Crouch, who had
served the Society in
that office for six years.
A member of the Wood-
mont Christian Church
in N ash v i 11 e, Mr.
Greenwood is a former

director of the Woodmont Christian Church
Sunday School and currently is the teacher
of their College Class. He is vice-chairman
of the Nashville United Givers Fund.

Roscoe M. Pierson, librarian at the Col-
lege of the Bible, Lexington, Ky., and for

the pas( two years sec-
retary of the Board of
Trustees of the Histori-
cal Society has been re-
elected to that office.
Mr. Pierson is a Found-
ing Member of the So-
ciety, and his many
services to the DCHS
included membership on
the Advisory Committee
of The C h r i s t ian -

Evangelist Project. He attended every ses-
sion held by the Committee. Active in the
affairs of the American Theological Library
Association, Mr. Pierson has rendered special
service to that organization through member-
ship on the Microtext Committee 'and as
chairman of the Reprint Committee. I

Mr. Greenwood

Mr. Pierson

The New Executive Committee

The Executive Committee of the Board of
Trustees is composed of the four officers of
the Board and three additional members.
Those who have been elected in addition to
the officers are: The Reverend Harry M.
Davis, Hopkinsville, Ky.; J. Edward Mose-
ley, Indianapolis, Ind.; and Howard E. Short,
St. Louis, Mo.
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ELEVEN MEMBERS ELECTED TO BOARD OF TRUSTEES:
FOUR PLACES ARE NEW; TWO VACANCIES REMAIN

On September 29, 1961, the Constitution of the Disciples of Christ Historical Society
was amended, increasing the membership of the Board from eighteen to twenty-four. Four
of the six vacancies thereby created were filled in the election this year. These four are
listed below, with brief biographical data.

Dr. Burns' Dr. Cramblet

Robert W. Burns
Robert W. Burns, pastor of the Peachtree

Christian Church, Atlanta, Ga., has been
elected for a three-year term. This marks
the fourth time Dr. Burns has been elected
to the Board of Trustees. He served con-
tinuously from 1946 through 1955, and in
1952 he was a member of the Society's Ex-
ecutive Committee. A Founding Member
of the Society, Dr. Burns was one of a
group that inspired and encouraged the pub-
lication of a history of the Disciples of
Christ in Georgia, written in 1954, by J.
Edward Moseley. On June 23, 1961, Dr.
Burns dedicated in the Thomas W. Phillips
Memorial a handsome bronze plaque, a bas-
relief of Walter Scott executed by W. E.
Garrison and presented to the Society by
the Peachtree Christian Church.

Wilbur H. Cramblet
Wilbur H. Cramblet, president of the

Christian Board of Publication, St. Louis,
Mo., since 1952, has been elected to a two-
year term extending to June 30, 1964. This
is the third time Dr. Cramblet has served
on the Board, his last term ending in 1958.
A member of the Society since 1947, Dr.
Cramblet has been a leading figure in The
Christian-Evangelist Index Project completed
in early April by the DCHS and under-

Dr. Harbison Mr. Harlan

written by the Christian Board of Publica-
tion. A former president of Bethany Col-
lege, Dr. Cramblet was chairman of the
Council of Agencies of the Disciples of
Christ, 1958-1960. He is chairman of the
Board of Trustees of Culver-Stockton Col-
lege, Canton, Mo., where the Society first
began its operation.

Winfred A. Harbison

Winfred A. Harbison is vice-president of
Wayne University, Detroit, Mich. A dis-
tinguished scholar in American history, Dr.
Harbison taught history at Wayne from 1929
until 1952, when he was called into top ad-
ministration by the University. Long active
in Detroit church circles, Dr. Harbison has
held every major post of leadership at Cen-
tral Woodward Christian Church and has
written a brief history of the church. In-
cluded in Dr. Harbison's wide range of his-
torical interest is special study in the field
of Abraham Lincoln. Dr. Harbison's son,
Stanley L. Harbison, who received his B.D.
degree in June from Yale University, has
come to Nashville to work toward the Ph.D.
degree from Vanderbilt University in the
field of church history. He will do con-
siderable rese.arch in the T. W. Phillips
Memorial.
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C. Allen Harlan

C. Allen Harlan, president of the Harlan
Electric Company and a member of the Cen-
tral Woodward Christian Church, Detroit,
Mich., is a newcomer in his relationship
with the Society. However, he is a man
of long-time interest in the cause of history
and in the activities of the brotherhood of
the Disciples of Christ. A member of the
Board of Trustees of Bethany College, Mr.
Harlan also serves on the Board of Trustees
of Michigan State University, Fisk Univer-
sity, Brandeis University and Hampton In-
stitute. He has long been active in Detroit
and Michigan library circles. Mr. Harlan is
a native of Tennessee, coming from Colum-
bia, only a short distance from Nashville.
On February 23, 1962, he received the Na-
than W. Dougherty Award for Distinguished
service through the engineering profession
awarded to him by the University of Ten-
nessee.

Fills Unexpired Term

In addition to the four who fill new places
on the Board of Trustees a fifth member,
William F. Greenwood (see page 35), comes
to the Board for the first time. Mr. Green-
wood, the new treasurer of the Society fills

the vacancy on the Board created by the
death of Dr. Charles E. Crouch.

Six other persons were elected to the
Board of Trustees, each for a three-year
term, and each for re-election following the
completion of their previous term, June 30,
1962. They are as follows: Bebe Boswell,
Jackson, Tenn., for forty-seven years an ac-
tive member of the First Christian Church
of that city; J. Edward Moseley, member of
the Central Christian Church, Indianapolis,
Ind., who was the first Board chairman of
the Society when it was organized in 1941;
Ronald E. Osborn, dean of Christian Theo-
logical Seminary, Indianapolis, Ind., who is
also a former Board chairman; Hugh M. Ri-
ley, pastor of the Douglass Boulevard Chris-
tian Church, Louisville, Ky., who is the new
vice-chairman of the Board; Henry K. S~aw,
librarian, Christian Theological Seminary,
Indianapolis, Ind., whose informative and
helpful booklet entitled "Writing the His-
tory of Your Local Church" has just been
reprinted by the Society; and Howard E.
Short, editor of The Christian, St. Louis,
Mo., a Founding Member of the Society who
served as secretary of the Board of Trustees
in 1953.

Present Board of Trustees of the Disciples of Christ
Historical Society

Term Expiring 6-30-64
Wilbur H. Cramblet
Harry .M. Davis
William F. Greenwood
N. Quentin Grey
W. A. Harbison
Forrest F. Reed
James B. Washburn
Eva Jean Wrather

Term Expiring 6-30-63
W. E. Garrison
Perry E. Gresham
James DeForest Murch
Roscoe M. Pierson
Mrs. R. Richard Renner
John Rogers

International Convention Display

The Disciples of Christ Historical Society
will feature a display announcing the com-
pletion of The Christian-Evangelist Index at
the International Convention of Christian
Churches to be held in Los Angeles, Sep-
tember 30-0ctober 4. The Society has been
assigned booth number 116 which is ap-

Term Expiring 6-30-65
Bebe Boswell
Robert W. Burns
C. Allen Harlan
J. Edward Moseley
Ronald E. Osborn
Hugh M. Riley
Henry K. Shaw
Howard E. Short

propriately located adjacent to the Christian
Board of Publication, through whose spon-
sorship The Christian-Evangelist Index Proj-
ect was undertaken.

One of the features of the display will be
a microfilm reader which will enable the
visitor to discover the vast usage for his-
torical research that can be made with The
Christian-Evangelist Index.
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SOCIETY REACHES AND PASSES ONE HUNDREDTH
LIFE MEMBERSHIP MILESTONE

Dr. Roger T. Nooe Is Number 100; Mrs. Spencer P. Austin Is 101

On May 14, 1962, sixteen years and six
days after the first DCHS Life Membership
was issued to Oreon E. Scott, the Society
reached its coveted mark of one hundred
Life Members.

The achievement was a milestone height-
ened by the fact that the holder of the one
hundredth membership is Dr. Roger T.
Nooe, distinguished minister ecumenical of
Vine Street Christian Church in Nashville,
Tennessee. Dr. Nooe presided over the In-
ternational Convention in Richmond, Vir-
ginia, in 1939 when the Convention ap-
pointed a Historical Commission which two
years later brought into being under Con-
vention action the Disciples of Christ His-
torical Society. Membership Number 100
is a gift to Dr. Nooe from Mr. and Mrs.
R. I. Wrather and Miss Eva Jean Wrather.

Four days after reaching "the hundredth"
the Society entered its "second century" of
Life Memberships, and
once a g a i n the mile-
stone was reached under
moving and memorable
circumstances. For on
May 18, Dr. Spencer P.
Austin, Executive Secre-
tary of Unified Promo-
tion, and holder of Life
Membership Number
16, presented Life Mem-
bership Number 101 to
his wife on her birthday. It came to her
as a complete surprise, and the announce-
ment was made by a telegram which reached
Mrs. Austin at the breakfast hour on the
morning of her birthday.

Mrs. Austin

Back in the Good Old Days
When Dr. Austin became a Life Member

on January 3, 1949, he did so at a cost of
$25.00. Thirteen years and five months later
he paid $100.00 to provide a similar status
of Society membership for his wife. He
graciously refrained from comparisons be-
tween the gentler costs of yesteryear and
those of 1962, and his enthusiasm for the

support of the Society through this method
of witness was a source of encouragement
to the DCHS leadership

The Society marked the achievement of
its one hundredth Life Membership by is-
suing and presenting Life Membership cer-
tificates to all holders of the Life Member-
ship status, and this practice will be con-
tinued as each new Life Member is added.
The hand lettering of the names on each of
the certificates was done by Mrs. Richard
Cate, secretary to Dr. Jones,

By Personal Delivery

Most of the certificates were mailed to
Life Members with an accompanying letter.
But Society president, Willis R. Jones, de-
livered in person certificate Number 3, dated
August 7, 1945, and held by Paul B. Raines
of High Ridge, Missouri. For in point of
chronology this is the number one certificate
now held by a living member of the Society.
Mr. Raines is the son of the late F. M.
Raines, eminent Disciple leader who served
for twenty-five years as secretary of the For-
eign Christian Missionary Society.

Taken as a whole the DCHS Life Mem-
bership list of one hundred and one holders
looks like a "Directory of Directors," so
eminent are those who comprise it. And
circumstances surrounding the memberships
are often filled with human interest stories.

The youngest person to take out a Life
Membership was Virginia Osborn, daughter
of Dr. and Mrs. Ronald E. Osborn, who was
seven years old when on January 18, 1956,
she became Life Member Number 37. A
little later her father and mother joined the
ranks.

Becomes Life Member at 91
Mrs. Vinona P. Wittig of Cleveland,

Ohio, has the honored distinction of being
the oldest person to become a Life Member.
On May 24, 1961, at the age of ninety-one,
she became Life Member Number 67. Her
delightful and informative letter requesting
this membership, typed by her own hand in
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excellent stenographic form, is a charming
item for our permanent files.

Winfred E. Garrison, a Founding Member
of the Society and holder of the first annual
membership ever issued by the DCHS is
Life Member Number 25. J. Edward Mose-
ley, who on February 26, 1962, received
through the generosity of friends, Life Pa-
tron Number 4, has the unique distinction
of also holding Life Membership Number 4.

Two Life Memberships are in the form
of memorials issued in honor and memory
Qf loved ones. Mrs. W. M. Forrest placed
her membership in memory of the late Dr.
William Mentzel Forrest, an interested sup-
porter of the Society over a period of many
years; and Mrs. John T. Ewing likewise
made her membership a memorial to the
late Dr. Ewing, long active in Disciples cir-
cles in Louisville, Ky.

Out of Love and Generosity
Four memberships represent the special

generosity of friends and loved ones. In
addition to the action that resulted in the
Life Membership for Dr. Nooe was the
generosity of the three Nooe children who
contributed the funds which made their
mother Life Member Number 99. Dr.
Claude E. Spencer received Life Membership
Number 98 through the action of friends,
and Mrs. Willis R. Jones was made Mem-
ber Number 88 through a similar expression
of kindness.

The Disciples of Christ Historicaf Society
feels it has beneath it the strength of Gi-
braltar because of its ever widening,. ever
inspiring circle of Life Members. It grate-
fully acknowledges its first hundred mem-
bers and proudly enters upon its climb to-
ward another milestone-its "second cen-
tury" of Life Members.

MEMBERS FOR LIFE
(Continued from Page 34)

1961
63. Mrs. Roy Waggener, Rushville, Ind.
64. M. J. Neeley, Forr Worth, Tex.
65. Mrs. Bebe Boswell, Jackson, Tenn.
66. Charles F. Russell, Cleveland, Ohio
67. Mrs. Vi nona P. Wittig, Cleveland, Ohio
68. E. Louis Cochran, Santa Monica, Calif.
69. Mrs. William H. Smith, Nashville, Tenn.
70. Joe V. Boswell, Memphis, Tenn.
71. James H. Boswell, Jackson, Tenn.n. H. B. McCormick, Indianapolis, Ind.
73. W. F. Mandrell, Mobile, Ala.
74. Mrs. Ruth Pratt Johnson, Indianapolis, Ind.

Dr. and Mrs. Roger T. Nooe receive their
Life Membership certificates at a special cere-
mony at Vine Street Christian Church, Wednes-
day evening, June 24. Presentation was made
by Eva Jean Wrather, DCHS trustee and
holder of Life Membership certificate No.5.

The Society's annual Convention
Dinner will be held on October 3 at
5:30 o'clock in the dining room of the
Wilshire Boulevard Christian Church
in Los Angeles.

The speaker will be the distin-
guished dean of Christian Theological
Seminary, Dr. Ronald E, Osborn, His
subject will bear upon religion and
the fine arts.

75. Hal S. Moseley, Indianapolis, Ind.
76. James Washburn, La Belle, Mo.
77. Mrs. James Washburn, La Belle, Mo.
78. Mrs. Roy C. Jacobs, Seattle, Wash.
79. H. T. Morrison, Springfield, Ill.
80. D. E. Harrell, Johnson City, Tenn,
81. Mrs, Albert E. Pierce, Tulsa, Okla.
82. Mrs. J, A. Schaefer, Bangor, Mich.
83. Edgar DeWitt Jones, Jr., Dallas, Tex.
84, Charles F. McElroy, Springfield, Ill.
85. Russell H. Koppin, Detroit, Mich.
86. Mrs. E. R. Larson, St. Paul, Minn.
87. Mrs. Ruth Brown Moore, Memphis, Tenn.
88. Mrs. Willis R. Jones, Nashville, Tenn.
89. Mrs. ,Forrest F. Reed, Nashville, Tenn.
90. Miss Mate Graye Hunt, Kalamazoo, Mich.

1962
R. Richard Renner, Cleveland Heights,91. Mrs.

Ohio
92. Perry E. Gresham, Bethany, W. Va.
93. J. Howard Helmick, Decacur. Ill.
94. Miss Mary H. Kreider, Springfield, Ill.
95, R. Richard Renner, Cleveland Heights, Ohio
96. Mrs. J. T. Ewing, LOUIsville, Ky, (In memory

of Dr. J. 1'. Ewing)
97. John E. Hurt, Martinsville, Ind,
98. Claude E. Spencer, Nashville, Tenn.
99. Mrs. Roger T. Nooe, Nashville, Tenn.

100. Roger T. Nooe, Nashville, Tenn.
101. Mrs. Spencer P. Austin, Indianapolis, Ind,
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The State Board of the Tennessee Christian Missionary Society took official
action at their meeting held May 9, to make all professional members of the staff
of the Tennessee Christian Missionary Society annual members of the Disciples of
Christ Historical Society. This brought to the Society three valuable and interested
new members, and gave great encouragement to the Society.
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Why An Index?
By WILBUR H. CRAMBLET

DISCIPLIANA, SEPTEMBER, 1962

editorial ...
Editorial Note: This editorial by Dr. Cramblet, president of the Christian Board of Publication, is based on
his "Foreword" in The Christian-EvangeliSI Index.

This three-volume Index is presented to
the Christian Churches (Disciples of Christ)
in an effort to provide serious students of
the Restoration Movement with a guide to an
important part of the printed record of th e
growth of this religious movement. The be-
liefs and practices of Disciples of Christ
have been developed through free discussion
and d~bate, using the periodical rather than
the book form of presentation. Different
opinions have been expressed and basic doc-
trines examined in these journals. Emerging
institutional agencies and ways of carrying
out the work of the church have been de-
bated. This practice has been true from the
very beginning of the Restoration Movement.

The Christian Messenger, 1826-1845, by
Barton W. Stone; The Christian Baptist,
1823-1830; followed by The Millennial Har-
binger, 1830-1870, by Alexander Campbell
and his associates; and many other period-
icals of varying influence were used as a
public forum for discussing issues vital to
such an undertaking. Lard's Quarterly, pub-
lished by Moses E. Lard, is felt by many to
have interpreted incisively and influentially
points of view representative of a great
many persons in the Christian Church.
Through the years there have been numerous
periodicals published by and for ministers
and leaders of the churches. Many of these
were concerned with a local constituency.

Almost one hundred of them aimed at wider
circulation. Out of those which have sur-
vived, the Christian Standard and The Chris-
tian-Et}(mgelist (now published under its
earlier name, The Christian) wielded and
continue to wield the largest influence upon
the thinking of our people.

Though largely hidden, the history of the
religious movement is contained in the vol-
umes of these many publications.

No complete file of this basic historical
materiaf is available in anyone place. A
comprehensive collection is being assembled
and catalogued by the Disciples of Christ
Historical Society at Nashville, Tenn. None
of this material is adequately indexed. Any-
one seeking to do serious research in the
growth of Disciple traditions in belief and
practice must travel to many places and
search through great quantities of extraneous
material, as this writer knows from personal
experience.

During the depression years, in coopera-
tion with the late Dr. Irwin T. Green, form-
erly Professor of New Testament at Bethany
College, a WPA project was set up for the
indexing of The Millennial Harbinger, For-
tunately for the country but unfortunately
for the project, the depression eased and
WP A funds were no longer available for col-
lege students. The project had to be aban-

(Continued on page 54)
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An Index to the Disciples . . . By CLAUDE E. SPENCER

The Christian-Evangelist Index to be shown first at the
International Convention Assembly

On October 2, Tbe Cbristian-Evangelist
Index will be ready for distribution. On
that day a copy will be presented to Dr.
Gaines M. Cook, Executive Secretary, Inter-
national Convention of Christian Churches,
during the evening session at the Los
Angeles Assembly. Making the presentation
will be Wilbur H. Cramblet, president of
the Christian Board of Publication, and
Claude E. Spencer, curator of the Disciples of
Christ Historical Society.

Although there have been several "red
letter" days in the Society's comparatively
short life, perhaps none has had more signifi-
cance for church history scholars and research
workers than the publication of a three-
volume index to a periodical covering more
than half (1866-1958) the life span of the
Disciples of Christ. Truly this can be called
"An Index to the Disciples."

In the past, using the periodicals of the
Disciples for research was a time-consuming
task. Since there were no general indexes
for any of them and the annual indexes (if
there were any) were little more than tables
of contents, a researcher had to thumb
through hundreds, and even thousands, of
pages to gain desired information.

From the beginning our Society has ad-
vocated that general indexes should be made

The Christian-Evangelist indexing conference of
July 26, 1958. Shown in the picture from left
to right are: Henry K. Shaw, Miss Emily
Garnett, Roscoe M. Pierson, Claude E. Spencer,
Wilbur H. Cramblet, Mrs. Agnes Hunt Mills,
.and Howard E. Short.

for the major periodicals of the Disciples
of Christ. In 1954, a request was made by
the Society to the Christian Board of Pub-
lication for a grant-in-aid for the microfilm-
ing and indexing of Tbe Cbristian-Evangelist
to be done under its direction. The micro-
filming part of the project was approved in
November, 1954; and early in 1955, a sub-
sidy was granted for the indexing.

Because the index would be used mainly in
libraries and for research, a conference was
called January 5, 1955, of seminary and col-
lege librarians, Historical Society and Chris-
tian Board officials, to discuss the scope of
the proposed work, form of entries to be
used, and style of references. Attending
that meeting were: Wilbur H. Cramblet,
president, Christian Board of Publication;
Lin D. Cartwright, editor-in-chief, Christian
Board of Publication; M. W. Jones, librar-
ian, Butler School of Religion; Roscoe M.
Pierson, librarian, The College of the Bible;
C. G. Sparks, librarian, Texas Christian Uni-
versity; Enos E. Dowling, dean of the Grad-
uate School, Lincoln Bible Institute; Robert
N. Broadus, librarian, David Lipscomb Col-
lege; Edward A. Henry, Joint University Li-
braries; Herman A. Norton, dean, Vander-
bilt Disciples Foundation; Miss Eva Jean
Wrather, treasurer, Disciples of Christ His-

The Cover Photo
E. Clayton Gooden is responsible for
the montage showing Woodrow W.
Wasson checking the work of one of
the typists, Mrs. David B. Waldrop.
Dr. Wasson, who worked over 3,000
hours on the project, did all phases of
the work; indexing, filing, editorial
work, and supervision of the typists.
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Agnes Hunt Mills (Mrs. Paul Mills of Sarasota,
Fla.) worked on the indexing over 5,000 hours,
a longer period of time than any other indexer.
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torical Society; and Miss Christine Buder,
assistant curator, Disciples of Christ Histori-
cal Society.

At this conference it was decided that
not only would The Christian-Evangelist,
1882-1958 be indexed, but that The Gospel
Echo, The Christian and The Evangelist
would also be included. The committee
recommended the listing of all authors and
subjects of articles, obituaries, "headline"
news, and letters to the editors. It was
also suggested that entries under subject
and author headings be arranged chrono-
logically instead of alphabetically and that
no entries should be made under title.

Because there was not a complete file of
the predecessors of The Christian-Evangelist
in existence, it was necessary to try to locate
as many copies as possible before starting
the project. However, very few additional
years were discovered to supplement the
holdings of the Christian Board of Publica-
tion and of the Historical Society; and on
April 1, 1955, the late John Lipscomb began
indexing with the 1904 year (where the So-
ciety file started) and continued for three
months, after which he resigned.

Personnel
Work was stopped until October, 1955,

when Mrs. Agnes Hunt Mills became the in-
dexer; and with the exception of a four-
month leave of absence in 1957, she con-
tinued indexing until September, 1958. Miss
Nancy Melvin came in August, 1958, and
left as Mrs. Joe Turner in August, 1960.
Again the project was dormant until Novem-
ber, 1960, when Miss Mate Graye Hunt and
Woodrow W. Wasson took over as indexers.
Miss Hunt stayed through March, 1961, and
Dr. Wasson completed the indexing in
September, 1961. Marvin Dale Williams,
periodicals librarian, Christian Theological
Seminary, helped for more than two months
during the summer of 1961.

In addition to the indexers, two file clerks
were employed. Richard Kretzschmar worked
in July and August, 1960; and David Goss
came in January, 1961, and stayed until the
completion of the project. Both were stu-
dents in Vanderbilt Divinity School.

As the work on the indexing progressed,
several additional conferences were held to
check what had been done and to make

suggestions for improvements. On May 23,
1956, Dr. Cramblet and Dr. Cartwright of
the Christian Board of Publication, and Mr.
Pierson of The College of the Bible met
with Mrs. Mills and Dr. Spencer in regard to
the work.

It was not until July 26, 1958, that serious
consideration was given to the form that
the index would take for distribution, and
it was decided that some kind of printed
copies would be more desirable than micro-
film. Various ways of printing were dis-
cussed, and Dr. Cramblet and Dr. Spencer
were asked to investigate costs. It was also
decided that the terminal date would be
1958. At this meeting were Dr. Cramblet
and Howard E. Short, new editor of The
Christian-Evangelist,. Miss Emily Garnett,
reference librarian, Texas Christian Univer-
sity; Mr. Pierson of The College of the
Bible; Henry K. Shaw, librarian of Christian
Theological Seminary; and Mrs. Mills and
Dr. Spencer.

At a conference May 22, 1961, several im-
portant decisions were reached. First, that
the index would be printed at the Christian
Board of Publication by photo offset. Second,
that even though the files of the predecessors
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of The Christian-Evangelist were incomplete,
all known existing copies would be included
in the index. Third, that since the His-
torical Society did not have enough indexers
to index The Gospel Echo, The Christian and
The Evangelist in a few months, the libraries
of The College of the Bible, Christian The-
ological Seminary, and the Christian Board
of Publication would be asked to do this
indexing. Fourth, that arrangements be
made with Manpower, Inc., to supply typists
to prepare copy for the printer. Attending
this conference were: Dr. Cramblet and. Dr.
Short of the Christian Board of Publication;
Dr. Shaw of Christian Theological Seminary;
Mr. Pierson of The College of the Bible; and
Dr. Willis R. Jones, president of the Dis-
ciples of Christ Historical Society, and Dr.
Spencer.

Crash Program
During the summer of 1961, the following

persons worked at the Christian Theological
Seminary preparing index slips for The
Evangelist: Phyllis Inman, John Jordan,
Paulson Kailasan, Jonathan Nyce, Dale Par-
rish, Jane Wiatt, and Marvin Dale Williams.
The Christian was being indexed by the fol-
lowing persons at The College of the Bible:
Warren Brubaker, Carol Moore, Laverne
Smith, and Harry Sterling. Christine Buder,
librarian of the Christian Board of Publica-
tion, worked on The Gospel Echo.

By the middle of October, all of die 3 x 5
index slips had been received from the
various libraries preparing them and had
been filed with those done at Nashville. The
slips took up the space of 110 trays of a
standard library catalog case. There were
approximately a quarter of a million entries.

Because so many different people worked
on the index over such a long period of
time-1955-1961-it is natural that much
editorial work had to be done in order to get
it ready for typing. This was carried on by
Dr. Wasson and Mr. Goss, and actually was
finished only a few days before the typing
was completed.

Although some preliminary typing was
done by Miss M. A. Grigsby of Manpower,
Inc., in late September, the real typing pro-
gram did not get under way until Novem-

'ber 14, 1961, when Mrs. Ruth M. Walker
began work. In addition to Mrs. Walker,
six other typists worked on the project:
Mrs. Lillian E. Kaplan, Mrs. Joy 1. McCQrd,
Mrs. Dorothy Mooney, Mrs. Helen Moore,
Mrs. Myra Robinson, and Mrs. David B.
Waldrop. Four typewriters with carbon
ribbons were used, and the typing was
done on continuous rolls of paper. As
each tray was completed, the finished work
was clipped and sent to the Christian Board
of Publication for paste-up into pages. Fi-
nal typing was completed April 5, 1962.
Dr. Wasson supervised the typing project.

At the Christian Board of Publication
layout for text pages was done by Houston
C. Bowyer, assistant manager of the adver-
tising-liaison department; layout for the in-
troductory matter was done by Don C.
Smith, copywriter and layout man for The
Christian; paste-up for the offset printing
was done by Mrs. Eloise Hughes, Mrs.
Alletrice Wells, and Miss Shirley Richards.
Cover design was done by DeVere C. Shoop,
manager of the advertising-liaison depart-
ment. The Progressive Litho Plate Com-
pany made the printing plates. Perfect
Binding of the plastic-covered copies was
done by the Christian Board of Publica-
tion, and the Becktold Company did the
hard bound copies.

Special acknowledgement and thanks go to
Dr. Cramblet for his intense personal in-
terest in the project and to the members

Nancy Melvin (now Mrs. Joe Turner of. Ham-
mond, Ind.) worked nearly 4,000 hours indexing
and filing slips.



46

> duction step of the overall lengthy project."
At present no statistics are available for
the amount of time spent by photographers,
printers, and binders, or by other persons
in planning layout and cover design. Also,
no record was kept of the time spent by
DCHS staff members who were not on the
project payroll.

Positive microfilm prints will be avail-
able for all of the volumes that have been
indexed. Libraries and individuals who
have already purchased the 75 volumes
made available on film three years ago will
be a~le to buy the remainder of the film
and the bzdex at the special package rate
which will be offered to present purchasers
of film and Index.

The Society booth no. 116 in Exposition
Hall at the Los Angeles International Con-
vmtion Assembly will exhibit several sets
of the Index, all of the microfilm, a tray
showing the index slips from which the
typing was done, a paste-up sheet, and a
plate which was used for the printing.
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E. Cia ywn Gooden Phow

David Goss filing index slips in one of the 110
trays. Mr. Goss worked over 1,200 hours on
the project.

of the Christian Board of Publication for
their approval of the generous grant-in-
aid which enabled the Society to carry to
completion such a gigantic undertaking.

Also, special thanks go to Roscoe M.
Pierson, librarian of The College of the
Bible, for attending all of the conferences
concerning the project, for many suggestions
for improvement, and for supervising the
persons who indexed The Christian; to
Henry K. Shaw, librarian of the Christian
Theological Seminary, for helpful sugges-
tions, and for supervising the indexing of
The Evangelist; to Culver-Stockton College
for allowing the use of the first volume of
The Evangelist from the Henry Barton Robi-
son collection; to Northwest Christian Col-
lege for lending copies of The Gospel Echo;
to Christian Theological Seminary library
for allowing its files of The Evangelist to
be microfilmed and for supervising the mi-
crofilming; to the McQuiddy Printing Com-
pany and Frank Brandon for the gift of a
quarter of a million 3 x 5 slips; and to
Manpower, Inc., for its qualitative selectiv-
ity in the personnel which was sent for
the typing project.

The actual indexing, filing and editorial
supervision required approximately 16,500
hours of work. The typing of copy on
7,000 feet of paper took up 2,425 hours.
According to the Spring issue of Across
the Board, employee magazine of the Chris-
tian Board of Publication, "840 hours of
time were required for the paste-up pro-

E. Clayton Gooden, minister of the West
Creighton Christian Church, Ft. Wayne, Ind.,
and photographic art consultant for DISCIP-
LIANA, prepares the background exhibit to
be used by DCHS in booth no. I 16, Exposition
Hall of the Shrine Auditorium, during the Los
Angeles Assembly of the International Con-
vention.


